. 8

D.A. 12-2-93

Wapp.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Churt Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 81,538

DAVEY COMPRESSOR COMPANY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF DELRAY BEACH,

Respondent.

1

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER
DAVEY COMPRESSOR COMPANY

DOUGLAS M. HALSEY, P.A.
Douglas M. Halsey
Florida Bar No. 288586
Kirk L. Burns
Florida Bar No. 515711
Judith Jackson Chorlog
Florida Bar No. 897604
First Union Financial Center
Suite 4980
200 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131-5309
(305) 375-0077
Attorneys for Petitioner,
Davey Compressor Company

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before the Court to review <u>Davey Compressor Co.v. City of Delray Beach</u>, 613 So.2d 60 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (App 1), which expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal on the measure of damages in groundwater contamination cases. Review by this Court is the culmination of more than five years of litigation which began in 1988, in Palm Beach County Circuit Court. The Fourth District's opinion, which reversed in part and affirmed in part an \$8.7 million judgment based on a jury verdict, became final in March, 1993. Because the opinion disregards Florida law on the measure of damages, this Court accepted the case for review.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1981, Aero-Dri Corporation ("Aero-Dri") began manufacturing dehydration filters and overhauling air compressors at a facility in the City of Delray Beach (the "City"). As part of the overhauling process, Aero-Dri cleaned and degreased air compressor parts with a variety of chemicals, primarily perchloroethylene, or

^{&#}x27;Citations to the record shall be indicated parenthetically by "R." followed by the page number, e.g., (R. 136). Citations to the trial transcript are indicated parenthetically by the letter "T." followed by the page number, e.g., (T. 161). Citations to the Plaintiff's and Defendant's exhibits received in evidence are indicated parenthetically by reference to the party which premarked the exhibit and the exhibit number, e.g., (City #1). Citations to documents contained in the appendix are indicated parenthetically by "App." followed by the page number, e.g., (App. 1).

²On September 9, 1993, the Court accepted this case for review under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

"perc" (T. 773; R. 1388). Because perc is hazardous, its use and disposal are regulated under both federal and state laws. Florida has also established a Maximum Contaminant Level for perc of three micrograms per liter (three parts per billion) in drinking water.

Aero-Dri employees used perc at work stations located throughout the facility. During the course of regular use, the perc would become dirty with oil, grease, and sand, and would require periodic replacement. From the time it began overhauling air compressors in Delray Beach, Aero-Dri employees disposed of the waste perc by dumping it onto the ground at the rear of the facility. (T. 563-567, 772-776, 804, 808-809, 838-839, 849, 852; R. 1388). This practice violated federal and state hazardous waste laws. Unbeknownst to Aero-Dri or its employees, the City operated a potable water supply wellfield less than a quarter mile from the Aero-Dri facility (R. 1388). The wellfield consisted of seven groundwater withdrawal wells, numbered 21-26, known as the "20-Series" wells (R. 1388). This was one of the City's most

³Perchloroethylene (also known as tetrachloroethylene) is a highly volatile chlorinated solvent.

⁴Perc is a hazardous substance under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA") 42 U.S.C. § 9601 (West 1983 and Supp. 1993). Waste perc is a listed hazardous waste in rules the Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") has promulgated under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") 48 U.S.C. § 6901) (West 1983 and Supp. 1993). See 40 C.F.R. § 261.33. EPA has delegated to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") primary authority to enforce RCRA in this state. DEP has adopted EPA's RCRA regulations by reference. See Chapter 17-730, Fla. Admin. Code.

⁵Fla. Admin. Code R. 17-550.310(2). A Maximum Contaminant Level is based on the potential health risk of the regulated compound.

productive wellfields and provided over eight million gallons of water per day for public water supply (T. 85-91).

From the commencement of operations in 1981 through June 1985, Lawrence and John Razete were the majority stock holders of Aero-Dri. The Razetes also owned Davey Compressor Company ("Davey") which manufactured new air compressors in Cincinnati, Ohio. In June 1985, the Razetes sold both Aero-Dri and Davey to Purvin Industries, Inc.⁶ In January 1987, Purvin merged Aero-Dri into Davey after which Aero-Dri operated as a division of Davey with Purvin as the parent corporation.⁷ (R. 1388; T. 2260-2262).

At the time of the acquisition of Aero-Dri in June 1985, Purvin relied on the warranties of the former owners that the facility was being operated in compliance with the law, and therefore undertook no investigation into the company's waste disposal practices (T. 2284). And because the management and personnel were left in place at Aero-Dri, improper disposal of waste solvents continued after Purvin's stock acquisition and the merger of Aero-Dri and Davey. In October 1987, following an inspection by Florida officials, Davey's Cincinnati-based management first learned of the improper hazardous waste disposal practices and immediately ordered the manager of the Aero-Dri

⁶Purvin purchased the stock of Aero-Dri and Davey through two acquisition companies, ADC Acquisition Company and Purvin Acquisition Company (R. 1388).

⁷The Razetes also owned the real property at S.W. 10 Street in Delray Beach through a partnership called L&J Enterprises ("L&J"). L&J leased the property to Aero-Dri and subsequently Davey. (R. 1388).

facility to stop them (T. 2262-2267, 2277).8 Davey promptly implemented assessment and remediation activities but unfortunately, the damage had already been done. (T. 2268, 2273-2274).

The State's inspection had been triggered by the City's discovery of elevated levels of perc in wells 21 through 24 of the 20-Series wellfield in August, 1987. (R. 1388; Davey #71). The solvents which had been discarded onto the ground at the rear of the Aero-Dri facility had percolated though the soils into the groundwater and migrated to the City's 20-Series wellfield (T. 951-959; R. 1388). In March 1988, the City installed an interim treatment system which, nine months later, it removed when it installed a "permanent" treatment system at the water treatment plant. (T. 152-154, 1794; City #238). The purpose of the interim and "permanent" systems was to remove the perc from the groundwater. Prior to installation of the "permanent" system, the City also purchased water from neighboring municipalities and implemented water conservation measures. (T. 871-872, City #238).

On April 20, 1988, the City filed an eight-count complaint against Davey, Purvin, and the Razetes, seeking injunctive relief and a type of damages it called "response costs" (R. 418, 435). Under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act ("CERCLA" or "Superfund"), 42 U.S.C. § 9601, any person may bring suit under Section 107(a) to recover "costs of response" or "response costs" as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 9601 (24)

⁸The State's inspection report noted numerous hazardous waste violations at the facility. (City #157, 164; T. 682-688, 694, 710-711).

and (25). Such costs include the reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in removing and remediating hazardous substances which have been released at a facility. Federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over Section 107(a) claims and such cases are tried before a judge, not a jury. 42 U.S.C. § 9613(b).9

The City decided not to sue Davey and the other defendants under CERCLA. Instead, it filed suit in Palm Beach County Circuit Court, where it demanded a jury trial on a variety of state-law claims (App 2). Significantly, the complaint only sought "response costs" as damages -- a remedy available exclusively in federal court under CERCLA. 10

In addition to suing for "response costs," the City also attempted to sue on behalf of the State under Section 403.412, Florida Statutes, and Section 60.05, Florida Statutes. Under Section 403.412(2)(c), Florida Statutes, the State has 30 days from receipt of a verified complaint to take appropriate action. Because the City had served the State with a complaint and the

⁹To prevail on a CERCLA claim against a responsible party, a plaintiff need only prove that the release of hazardous substances has caused it to incur necessary response costs consistent with the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan ("NCP") 40 C.F.R. Part 300. <u>Bunger v. Hartman</u>, 797 F.Supp. 968, 971 (S.D. Fla. 1992).

 $^{^{10}\}mathrm{The}$ City used the term "response costs" consistently throughout the Amended Complaint to describe the damages it sought. See, e.g., R. 435 ¶ 62 (private nuisance); ¶ 67 (trespass); ¶ 75 (negligence); and ¶ 81 (strict liability)("Defendants are fully liable for all response costs incurred by the City.")

¹¹Count I of the City's Complaint was based on § 403.412, Florida Statutes, known as the Environmental Protection Act of 1971. Count II of the City's Complaint was based on Florida's nuisance statutes, Sections 60.05 and 823.05, Florida Statutes.

State had timely filed suit against Davey and the other defendants, the trial court entered summary judgment against the City on its two statutory claims. 12 (R. 778)

The defendants moved to consolidate the City and State cases for trial in order to avoid duplicative and inconsistent judgments (R. 1329 & 1380). The trial judge denied the motion to consolidate (R. 1386), and Fourth District Court of Appeal denied the defendants' petition for review by certiorari. 14

Prior to trial, the City voluntarily dropped its claim for punitive damages (R. 1473). It also abandoned its public nuisance claim (T. 3197). The case finally went to the jury on the City's four common law claims: trespass, negligence, private nuisance, and strict liability. The damages the City sought on each claim were identical: "response costs."

¹²The State received a verified complaint on April 25, 1988 (R. 495). On May 4, 1988, the State filed suit, State of Florida V Aero-Dri Division of Davey Compressor Co., Case No. 88-4071-AA (R. 495 & 1329). The trial court also awarded attorney's fees to the prevailing defendants as provided by Section 403.412(f), Florida Statutes (1989). The City unsuccessfully appealed the various attorney's fees awards assessed against it. City of Delray Beach V. Davey Compressor Co., 605 So.2d 885 (4th DCA 1992) and City of Delray Beach V. Aero-Dri, Division of Davey; et al., 606 So.2d 371 (4th DCA 1992).

¹³An award of future cleanup costs to the City would be inconsistent with the State's requested mandatory injunction directing the defendants to remediate the contamination.

¹⁴Davey Compressor Co. v. City of Delray Beach, Case No. 90-01178), (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

¹⁵Although the case was pending for over two years, the City at no time sought the injunctive relief it had plead in its complaint.

Davey filed a pre-trial memorandum addressing the measure of damages under Florida law (R. 1811, 1817). Consistent with long-standing precedent, Davey argued that "response costs" can only be recovered under CERCLA, not under Florida common law, and that regardless of how the City characterized its losses, the City could not recover more than the total cost of replacing the wellfield. The trial judge decided not to follow Florida law on the measure of damages, though acknowledging that in doing so he was "flirting with reversal" (T. 1142-1157, 2249). Instead, he ruled that the City could recover all its past and future "response costs" without regard to the value of its wellfield.

At trial, the City offered no evidence on the value of the wellfield before or after it was contaminated. Similarly, the City offered no evidence on what it would cost to replace the wellfield. When Davey attempted to introduce evidence on the value of the City's wellfield and the cost of installing wells at a new location, the City objected on grounds of relevancy. (T. 2113-2114, 2245-2250). The trial court sustained the objections. Consistent with its earlier rulings, the judge also rejected Davey's jury instructions which tracked Florida law on the measure of damages (R. 1586; T. 3255-3256; R. 1603; T. 3390-3393). In Instead, the court instructed the jury that there was no limit on the "response"

¹⁶Ironically, the City had originally sought information on the value of the wellfield from its consultants for use at trial, though it later maintained such information was irrelevant. (Davey #68, 69 & 53; T. 2245).

costs" they could award the City (R. 1603; T. 3255-3256, 3390-3393).

The City asked the jury for \$3,097,488 in "response costs" it incurred through the date of trial (City #238; T. 1852-1853). 17

In addition, it asked the jury to award it future "response costs" ranging from \$3.8 to \$17.0 million (City #248). 18 The City used a computer-generated model which "predicted" that perc would remain in the 20-Series wellfield for a period ranging from 50 to 100 years (T. 1453-1454; 1623). 19 Past and future damages were based on the anticipated costs of operating the permanent water treatment system for this period of time. The jury awarded the City \$3,097,488 for expenses incurred through the date of trial 20

¹⁷After the City rested, the trial court entered a directed verdict in favor of Purvin and the Razetes (R. 1648, 1653).

¹⁸Although Davey argued that expenses incurred by the City in violation of the Florida Consultant's Competitive Negotiation Act ("CCNA"), Section 287.055, Florida Statutes (1993) should not be awarded, this position was rejected by the trial court. (R. 1807; T 3183-3184, 2205-2215). The Fourth District did not address this issue on appeal. 613 So.2d at 61.

¹⁹The City's best estimate for projected groundwater cleanup was 88 years. (T. 1453-1455). But the computer models used by the City have not been in existence long enough to determine whether such long-term projections are reliable. Defendants objected to their use at trial on the grounds that they do not meet the standards established in Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), and recently reaffirmed by this Court in Flanagan v.Florida, 18 Fla L. Weekly S475 (Fla. Sept. 9, 1993). The trial court allowed the City to offer computer-based projections and the Fourth District declined to address the issue on appeal (T. 1378-1675; 613 So.2d at 61).

²⁰The City's past damages consisted of capital, installation, and operating costs for the temporary carbon filter units and the four sixty foot high permanent air stripper towers; associated engineering costs; water testing costs; publicity costs for water conservation efforts; the cost of purchasing water from other

and \$5,600,000 for estimated future "response costs" (R. 1646, 1650).

On appeal, Davey raised six grounds for reversal, only two of which were addressed by the Fourth District. Davey argued, and the Court agreed, that the City has no legal interest in the ground-water underlying its wellfield apart from that conferred by the water consumptive use permit issued by the South Florida Water Management District. 613 So.2d at 62. Because the City failed to establish a legal interest in the groundwater beyond the 1997 expiration date of the permit, the Court held that the City could not recover future damages for remediating the groundwater after that date. 613 So.2d at 61.

The Fourth District refused, however, to reverse the trial court's erroneous rulings on the measure of damages for injuries to property. The Court acknowledged that "as a general rule, damages for injury to real property cannot exceed the value of the property," 613 So.2d at 61, citing Keyes Co. v. Shea, 372 So.2d 493 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), but concluded that the City's claim was for the "loss of use" of the groundwater, and therefore the value of the City's wellfield was irrelevant. Accordingly, the Fourth District announced two new measure of damages rules:

1. A property owner may recover all costs expended in remediating negligently caused groundwater contamination even if those costs exceed the cost of purchasing replacement property from which uncontaminated groundwater may be withdrawn.

municipalities; and the costs of disposing of soil samples.

2. There is no limit to the amount a property owner may recover in abating a nuisance, even if the amount spent exceeds the actual value of the property itself.

613 So.2d at 61-62.

Davey sought this Court's review of that portion of the Fourth District's decision which held that the City could recover "response costs" without regard to the value of its wellfield. 21 Because the Fourth District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of other district courts of appeal on the measure of damages in groundwater contamination cases, this Court accepted the case for review.

²¹The City sought review of that portion of the decision which held that it could not recover response costs for the period of time after the expiration of its groundwater withdrawal permit. By Order dated September 15, 1993, this Court declined to review the City's appeal. City of Delray Beach v. Davey Compressor Co., Case No. 81,539, (Fla. Sept. 15, 1993).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The proper measure of damage in groundwater contamination cases and other cases involving injuries to property is well established in Florida. The injured party may recover either: (1) the costs of removing the contamination from the groundwater so that it may be used as it had been prior to the contamination; or (2) the diminution in the property's value, whichever is less. the extent of the contamination is so great that the cost of restoring the groundwater will exceed the value of the property, then the injured party may recover the cost of purchasing replacement property and wells which uncontaminated from groundwater may be withdrawn. In all reported decisions involving groundwater contamination, damages to real property, and injuries to personal property, Florida courts have consistently held that the diminution in value rule precludes an injured party from recovering restoration costs which exceed the value of the property or its replacement cost.

The trial court decided not to follow Florida law and ruled that the City's entitlement to restoration costs was automatic --both the value of the City's wellfield and its replacement cost were irrelevant. On appeal, the Fourth District acknowledged the general measure of damages rule noted above, but affirmed the trial court's past damages judgment of \$3.1 million on the grounds that the City's suit was not for injury to its property but for its "loss of use" of the groundwater caused by the contamination. The court held that because the City sued for negligence, it could

recover all foreseeable and direct expenses incurred as a result of Davey's negligent groundwater contamination -- without regard to the value or the cost of replacing the City's wellfield. And, characterizing the City's damages as nuisance abatement costs, the Fourth District ruled that such costs could be recovered without regard to the value of the City's wellfield.

Though it offered lip service to Florida's measure of damages rule, the Fourth District's decision below is a radical departure from the established law on damages to property, including groundwater rights. The Fourth District's opinion declares that a "loss of use" claim exists independently from a cause of action which embodies all other injuries to the affected property. With utmost respect to the Fourth District, this conclusion defies common sense, and has absolutely no basis in the law. property, whether real property, personal property, or groundwater, is just one of several rights and entitlements which inhere in property. There is not a separate cause of action for each of the "sticks" which comprise the "bundle of rights" we know as property. The City's suit to recover damages for groundwater contamination was a property damage suit, and the Fourth District's attempt to avoid the measure of damages rule by calling it a "loss of use" claim is totally without merit.

The Fourth District held that because the City sued for negligence, it could recover all foreseeable and direct expenses it incurred as a result of Davey's negligent contamination of the groundwater without regard to the value of the City's wellfield.

On this point, the Fourth District's opinion directly contradicts numerous property damage cases in Florida predicated on negligence. Florida courts have never allowed a negligently injured property owner to recover restoration costs without regard to the value of the injured property.

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