D.A. 12-2-93 247

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE ////
OCT 26 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVEY COMPRESSOR COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 81,538

CITY OF DELRAY BEACH,

Respondent.

On Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal Case No. 90-02969

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF DELRAY BEACH

Susan Ruby (Fla. Bar No. 0613940) CITY ATTORNEY City of Delray Beach 310 S.E. First Street, Suite 4 Delray Beach, Florida 33483 (407) 243-7090 Steven R. Berger
(Fla. Bar No. 117402)
Bradley H. Trushin
(Fla. Bar No. 816371)
WOLPE, LEIBOWITZ, BERGER
& BROTMAN
Suite 520, Biscayne Bldg.
19 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 372-0060

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The purpose of a damage award is to make the City whole for the injuries and losses suffered to its "right of user" in the groundwater as a direct result of the negligent and illegal conduct of the defendant Davey. The courts below correctly held that the City's right of user via the 20-Series wellfield to supply drinking water

Some older wells to the east were being phased out due to saltwater intrusion.

⁵ Citations to "P.Br." are to pages of the Initial Brief of Petitioner.

Defendant's only other expert on the subject, Dr. Fred Molz, acknowledged that the model in question has been in the literature "for quite a while" and is recognized as a reliable tool to predict cleanup time, if properly calibrated (T.3088-9).

to its 53,000 residents was and is a unique property right, and that the City had no practical alternative but to clean up the pollution so as to restore potable drinking water to its citizens. The courts below correctly held therefore that the City was entitled to recover its reasonable and reasonably necessary costs of restoration.

The verdict and judgment in the trial court were in favor of the City as to liability based on negligence, nuisance, trespass and strict liability. Case law and public policy under each of these legal theories supports recovery of restoration costs in this case, since these are the damages that flowed logically and directly from defendant's wrongful acts. If the trial court's damages award is sustainable under any one of those four theories, it must be affirmed. Public policy and applicable case law, in addition, strongly favor restoration and cleanup of a public drinking water supply, and would disfavor any measure of damages that would allow a polluter to pay as damages less than the full restoration costs, leaving the City's residents and taxpayers either footing the bill, or drinking poisoned water.

The "diminution of value" test may be an appropriate measure of damages when the injury is permanent, the fair market value of the asset can be easily ascertained, and this will make the plaintiff whole. However, that test need not and should not be applied where it will <u>not</u> make the plaintiff whole and where (a) the injury is temporary and may be repaired, (b) public policy favors restoration of the property or resource, (c) restoration is in fact being taken, and (d) recovery of restoration costs would not result in an obvious and disproportionate windfall profit. In those cases, cost of restoration is the proper measure of damages.

The possibility that the City might have also been able to bring an action to recover its costs under the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response,

Compensation and Liability Act is irrelevant to the proper measure of damages in this case.

Finally, while the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal should be affirmed in all other respects, it should not have ruled as a matter of law that the City could not recover restoration costs that would be incurred after the expiration of its present consumptive use permit in 1997, when there was competent testimony, accepted by the jury and trial court, that such permits are routinely renewed and it was more probable than not that the City's permit would be renewed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PURPOSE OF "DAMAGES" IS TO FULLY AND FAIRLY COMPENSATE THE PLAINTIFF FOR THE INJURY AND LOSSES SUFFERED AS A RESULT OF DEFENDANT'S MISCONDUCT.

It is black letter law that the purpose of a damage award is to make the plaintiff whole by compensating him for the injury he has suffered as a result of the defendant's misconduct. Fisher v. City of Miami, 172 So.2d 455, 457 (Fla. 1965). In this case, the City cannot be made whole unless it is allowed to recover the costs it has incurred, and will have to incur in the future, in repairing the damage caused by Davey's pollution of the City's drinking water supply. Such restoration costs have been allowed in other Florida cases and are an appropriate measure of damages under each of the four common law causes of action asserted by the City in this case.

The relevant case law on this subject is discussed in the next two sections of this brief. Relying on that case law, after extensive briefings and argument, the trial court correctly instructed the jury on damages in the following terms:

In computing damages for the injury to the City's drinking water supply wells, the City is entitled to be compensated in an amount that will put the City in as good a position as it would have been had it not been for the occurrence of the Defendant's wrongful acts. The objective is to make the injured Plaintiff whole to the extent that it is possible to measure its injuries in terms of money.

In this case, the City is entitled to be reimbursed for all of its costs and expenses incurred to date which you find were reasonable and reasonably necessary to provide a safe supply of the water to the residents and customers of the City that complies with the applicable drinking water standards established by the State of Florida

You may award damages for reasonable and necessary future costs the Plaintiff may incur only if and to the extent that Plaintiff establishes such costs with reasonable certainty

When determining the reasonable and necessary costs of restoring any interests Plaintiff may have in the groundwater, you shall only consider those measures necessary to treat the water removed from the ground so that the City had a sufficient safe supply of drinking water to deliver to the consumer. Safe drinking water is water which when delivered to the consumer does not exceed the maximum contaminant level (T.3390-2, AT18).

This instruction incorporates the elements of Florida Standard Jury Instruction §6.1a. Pursuant to these and other instructions, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the City as to liability based on negligence, nuisance, trespass, and strict liability for hazardous activity. It awarded plaintiff its past restoration costs of \$3,097,488, plus \$5,600,000 as damages for the future costs that will have to be incurred by the City to complete its cleanup of the pollution caused by Davey (R.1646-7). Judgment was entered by the trial court in the full amount, \$8,697,488 (R.1650-2).

On appeal, the court below correctly ruled that the injury at issue was not, as Davey argued, to the City's real property, but to the City's "right to the use of the groundwater beneath its real property". Davey Compressor Co. v. City of Delray Beach, 613 So.2d at 61. The court applied the traditional measure of damages in negligence and nuisance cases, in effect affirming the trial court's instructions and the verdict and judgment on this point. Specifically, in negligence actions, the court below, citing a series of cases, held that "the plaintiff may recover all damages which are a natural, proximate, probable or direct consequence of the act, but do not include remote consequences". Id. at 62. Under the nuisance cause of action, the court below again followed well-settled precedent in holding that the City could recover "the reasonable cost of [its] own efforts to abate the nuisance of or prevent future injury". Id. Because the claim was not for damages to the real property itself on which the wells are located, the court below stated: "Therefore, the trial court did not err when it awarded past damages without regard to the value of appellee's property". Id.

Davey contends that this holding conflicts with decisions from other District Courts of Appeal. Davey asks this Court to rule that the City should not be made whole, but that instead its damages should be limited to the diminution in value of the property on which the wells are located.⁷ This would nowhere near make the City whole for the injury it has sustained and the expenditures it has had to incur as

Unfortunately, the Fourth District limited the City's recovery of future abatement and cleanup costs to the remaining life of its water supply permit despite testimony that such permits are routinely renewed. If that ruling is allowed to stand, the City will be left substantially less than whole (see infra, point VI).

a direct and sole result of Davey's illegal conduct. For the reasons set forth below, the measure of damages adopted by the trial court, and by the court below on this point, is fully consistent with and supported by Florida law and should be affirmed.

- II. THE INJURY IN THIS CASE IS TO A "RIGHT OF USER"
 IN A UNIQUE AND IRREPLACEABLE DRINKING WATER
 RESOURCE, AND NOT TO REAL PROPERTY AND
 PUMPING EQUIPMENT.
 - A. Petitioner Has Mischaracterized the Nature of the Injury as Damage to "Real Property".

Davey urges this court to apply a "diminution of value" rule as the measure of damages in this case, "which is the difference between the value of <u>real property</u> before and after the injury" (P.Br.15; emphasis added). It acknowledges the ample support in the case law for awarding damages based on costs of repairs, or restoration, but cites a series of real estate cases indicating that the diminution of value rule is generally preferred when the injury is permanent, or where the restoration costs exceed the diminution of value, or the value of, the real property itself. <u>Id</u>.

At the trial, Davey made the same argument, citing the same cases, and asserting that "the City's amended complaint rests <u>solely</u> upon claims arising under Florida common law for injuries to real property, . . ." Defendants' Memorandum of Law Regarding Appropriate Measure of Damages, p.2 (May 21, 1990)(R. 1811; emphasis in original).

In fact, as both the trial court and the Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly recognized, the City has not claimed damage to the real estate on which its wells are

located, nor to the pumps or other well equipment located on that land. Instead, the City's claim is "for injury to its right to the use of the groundwater beneath its real property". Davey Compressor Co. v. City of Delray Beach, 613 So.2d at 61. This right is to a self-regenerating supply of potable water which, until Davey polluted it, was suitable for drinking water, met all applicable regulatory standards, and provided safe drinking water for Delray Beach's 53,000 residents.

This right has unique value to a municipality, which has the statutory right and duty to supply potable water to its residents, the performance of which is relied upon by those citizens. Their health and livelihoods depend on the proper exercise of that right and duty by the City. The cases cited by Davey are simply irrelevant to damage to a right of user, which is <u>not</u> real property, <u>Cf. Village of Tequesta v. Iupiter Inlet Corp.</u>, 371 So. 2d 663, 667 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 444 U.S. 965 (1979), but a right which is of unique and inestimable value, and is being restored.

B. Federal and State Statutes Recognize the Unique Importance of Drinking Water for the Preservation of Life and Declare a Public Policy To Protect It.

Both the Florida Legislature and the United States Congress have declared unequivocally that the preservation of precious natural resources ranks among the highest goals of our society. These goals were summarized in the "declaration" of National Environmental Policy made by the Congress in the National Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA"):

The Congress, recognizing the profound impact of man's activity on the interrelations of all components of the natural environment... and recognizing further the <u>critical importance of restoring and maintaining environmental quality</u> to the overall welfare and development of man,

declares that it is the continuing policy of the Federal Government, in cooperation with State and <u>local</u> governments, to use all practicable means and measures . . . to create and maintain conditions under which man and nature can exist in productive harmony

NEPA § 101(a), 42 U.S.C. § 4331(a) (emphasis added).

This environmental call to arms is echoed in other pertinent federal statutes. The Clean Water Act ("CWA") was enacted to "restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the Nation's waters". CWA § 101(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a). Congress declared: "[I]t is the national policy that the discharge of toxic pollutants in toxic amounts be prohibited". Id. Congress also recognized "the primary responsibilities and rights of States to prevent, reduce, and eliminate pollution" and "to plan the development and use (including restoration, preservation and enhancement) of land and water resources . . ." CWA § 101(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1251(b). In the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, Section 1003(b), 42 U.S.C. § 6902(b), Congress declared

it to be the national policy of the United States that, wherever feasible, the generation of hazardous waste is to be reduced or eliminated as expeditiously as possible. Waste that is nevertheless generated should be treated, stored, or disposed of so as to minimize the present and future threat to human health and the environment.

In recognition of the paramount importance of the ready availability of drinking water, Congress enacted the Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. §§300f-300j-26. This Act provides for the promulgation of national drinking water standards (§ 300g-1), and places primary enforcement responsibility in the hands of the states (§ 300g-2).

The Florida Legislature has enacted similar laws and policies. The Legislature has declared that it is the policy of the State of Florida "to conserve the waters of the state and to protect, maintain, and improve the quality thereof for public water supplies". Florida Air and Water Pollution Control Acts, § 403.021(2), Fla. Stat. (1992) (emphasis added). The Legislature has also found that "[t]he pollution of the air and waters of this state constitutes a menace to public health and welfare, [and] creates public nuisances . . ." Id. at § 403.021(1). In light of the detrimental effects of pollution on human health, the Legislature declared that "abatement of the activities [causing] pollution of the air or water resources in the state . . . be increased . . . to ensure domestic water supplies". Id. at § 403.021(6) (emphasis added).

C. Consistent With This Public Policy, Case Law In Florida and Elsewhere Recognizes That the Proper Measure of Damages for Pollution of a Drinking Water Supply Is the Cost of Restoration.

The right of user in the groundwater is of unique importance to a municipality which has a duty to supply its citizens with a safe drinking water supply. This was expressly recognized by the Second District Court of Appeal in Martin v. Pinellas County, 444 So.2d 439 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), a case which bears striking similarity to the present case. In that case, the defendants operated a landfill and borrow pit into which they had disposed of demolition debris, including hazardous waste. These materials had migrated into the groundwater and were threatening to contaminate the wellfield utilized by Pinellas County to supply drinking water to the populace of Pinellas and Pasco Counties. Pinellas County brought suit on the same common law

causes of action as are relied on in this case: negligence, nuisance, trespass and strict liability.

In affirming the trial court's entry of an injunction directing cleanup and removal of the hazardous waste, the court took note of the fact that the groundwater, which provides the drinking water for so many Florida residents, is threatened by "insidiously encroaching saltwater and other insults" and that "actions which threaten the continued supply of this most basic element must receive the immediate attention of all". 444 So. 2d at 440.8 The court stated:

We are, after all, dealing with the single most necessary substance for the continuation of life, and that substance is water. Any danger to that primary necessity is ecologically and humanly unacceptable. [Id. at 441].

In <u>Brynnwood Condominium I Ass'n v. City of Clearwater</u>, 474 So.2d 317 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), the court dismissed a claim against the City for allegedly supplying water that caused corrosion in pipes. However, it recognized that a municipality may be held liable for injuries resulting from its negligence in permitting its water supply to become contaminated or polluted, thereby causing illness. The court stated:

In the present case, because of the emergency conditions which were more acute than in the <u>Pinellas County</u> case in that the contamination was already into the drinking water supply at levels that exceeded the drinking water standards, and because of the recalcitrance of Davey to immediately perform response action that would have been satisfactory to the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation and the City, the City undertook the cleanup itself rather than press for an injunction.

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